
MINUTES OF THE KENT COUNTY LEVY COURT 
BUSINESS MEETING 

KENT COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX 
555 BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE 

LEVY COURT CHAMBER, ROOM 203 
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER24, 2019 

Call to Order 

The Business Meeting of the Kent County Levy Court was called to order at 
7:00p.m. by President Banta. 

Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 

The Invocation was led by Mr. Howell; the Pledge of Allegiance was led by 
Mr. Hall. 

Moment of Silence for our Troops 

A moment of silence was observed for our Troops and led by Mr. Sweeney. 

Roll Call and Determination of Quorum 

Allan F. Angel 
Eric L. Buckson 
Jeffrey W. Hall 
Glen M. Howell 
Terry L. Pepper 
George W. Sweeney, Sr. 
P. Brooks Banta 

Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Vice President 
Commissioner 
President 

There are seven (7) Commissioners present at Roll Call. 
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Adoption of Agenda 

Motion to approve the Agenda as presented was made by Mr. Angel; seconded 
by Mr. Pepper; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas. 

Consent Agenda 19-7 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda 19-7 including the approval of the Levy 
Court Business Meeting Minutes ofTuesday, September 10, 2019 and the 
September 17, 2019 Committee Meeting Items listed made by Mr. Sweeney; 
seconded by Mr. Angel; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas. 

PRESENTATIONS 

Resolution 3754, Retirement of Mary F. Eisenbrey 

Lorri Tanaka read the following into the record: 

Resolution 3754, Retirement of Mary F. Eisenbrey 

Whereas, the retirement of Mary F. Eisenbrey, an employee of Kent County, State 
of Delaware, from her duties as Property Specialist II, Department of Finance, 
Assessment Division, presents a suitable opportunity for expressing the esteem in 
which we hold Mary F. Eisenbrey, as a good and faithful public servant. 

Therefore, be it resolved that the County of Kent express its warmest appreciation 
and thanks to Mary F. Eisenbrey for the able and loyal manner in which she 
performed her public duties. 

Be it further resolved that this resolution be her evidence of a right to the pension 
provided by the Kent County Employees' Retirement Program; and that this 
Resolution be and hereby is incorporated into the official minutes of the 
September 24, 2019 meeting ofthe Kent County Levy Court. 

Motion to approve Resolution 3754 made by Mr. Angel; seconded by Mr. Pepper 
and Mr. Sweeney; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas. 

Mary and her family were invited to join the Commissioners, County 
Administrator and Susan Durham at the front of the dais for presentation of the 
retirement certificate and gift, best wishes and photos. 

Employee of the Month -October 2019 

Ms. Tanaka read the following into the record: 
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Kent County Department Heads have selected Shirley E. Thoms from the 
Department of Finance- Assessment Office as the October 2019 Employee ofthe 
Month. 

Shirley started with Kent County in April 2006 as a Permit Technician and later 
transferred to the Planning Office and then ultimately to the Assessment Office in 
November 2012 where she currently serves as an Assessor II. Her primary duties 
include inspecting properties in the field to measure structures and collect data 
used in real estate assessment; researching parcel permitting and construction 
history and sales of real estate; and maintaining computerized property 
improvements for her assigned territory. Shirley is a State licensed Certified 
Assessor and was previously recognized as Employee of the Month in July 2009. 

Shirley's experience in the building permits and planning offices has proven 
helpful with routine property assessment tasks, but her research skills have 
benefitted her work product the most. She is routinely praised by property owners 
for effectively explaining the complex assessment process in Delaware and for 
her pleasant demeanor. On several occasions Shirley has designed creative 
exhibits to honor veterans, Kent County history, and special events in the 
Administrative Complex display case. 

According to Finance Director Susan Durham, "Shirley has become a highly 
skilled property assessor for the County and willingly shares her knowledge with 
co-workers and constituents. She is very dedicated to Kent County and can be 
counted on to help out whenever needed." Congratulations Shirley on a job well 
done! 

Shirley joined the Commissioners, County Administrator and Ms. Durham at the 
front for presentation of the award, congratulatory remarks and photos. 

Life Saving Award Medal 

Commissioner Sweeney read the following into the record: 

On Sunday, July 7, 2019 Mr. Normile was removing trees and brush in Smyrna, 
Delaware along with the assistance of 16 year old Jason Rogers and 
Mr. Normile's son Issac. Having created a pile of debris and watering the 
perimeter, an accelerant was used to ignite the stumps and yard waste. During the 
ignition phase the fire back flashed on Jason creating areas of 1st, 2nd and 3rd 

degree bums. Mr. Normile attempted to get Jason to stop, drop and roll but this 
proved ineffective as the fire reignited and as such, Mr. Normile also received 
bums on his arm, shoulder and face trying to extinguish the fire from Jason. 
Mr. Normile's son Issac used a garden hose to extinguish the remaining fire. 

Larry quickly put Jason into a shower in an attempt to relieve the pain from the 
bums and then transport him to Bay Health's Emergency Department in Smyrna. 
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Larry was treated and released while Jason was transferred to Crozer Chester 
Bum Center where he has since been released. 

Larry Normile exemplified courage in an appropriate and expeditious manner 
with little regard to self to remediate what could have been a catastrophic event 
for Jason Rogers. It is through his selfless actions positive outcomes were 
possible. We are extremely proud to recommend to the County Administrator and 
the Kent County Levy Court Commissioners, that the Kent County Life Saving 
Medal be awarded to Lawrence "Larry" Normile. 

Mr. Sweeney: I have a Motion. The Kent County Director of Public Safety 
Chief Colin T. Faulkner recommends that the Kent County Levy Court and 
County Administrator award the Life Saving Medal to Lawrence "Larry" Normile 
for his heroic efforts to provide lifesaving assistance at a time of extreme duress 
and need; seconded by Mr. Angel and Mr. Pepper; carried by Roll Call vote seven 
(7) yeas. 

Larry, Jason and Chief Faulkner joined the Commissioners and County 
Administrator at the front for photos and well-earned congratulations. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Sarah Keifer stated these Public Hearings are being conducted for the purpose of 
giving the citizens of the County the opportunity to present testimony on the 
application and ordinances that are before the Levy Court. 

Everyone will have a chance to speak. All statements are to be made from the 
podium at the front of the room. For the record, please give your name and 
address. Copies of any written statements or exhibits used during the hearing 
should be presented to for identification and inclusion in the record. 

For each application before the Levy Court: 

1. The President of Levy Court will introduce the application; 

2. The Levy Court will then receive testimony from those in favor; 

3. Testimony will then be received from those who may be opposed. 

4. After everyone has had an opportunity to speak, the hearing on the 
application will be closed and the Levy Court will then take what action it 
deems appropriate. 

Levy Court's decision will be based upon public hearing testimony given at this 
meeting and a recommendation submitted to the Levy Court by the Regional 
Planning Commission. I would ask that the recommendation be included, by 
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reference, in the permanent record of the meeting established by the Clerk of the 
Peace. 

The Public Notice ofthe Hearing was published in the September 6, 2019 edition 
ofthe Delaware State News. 

STORMWATER MAINTENANCE DISTRICT EXTENSION 
<FOX HOLLOW) 

Mr. Sweeney: 
1. Resolution 3750, A Resolution to extend the Kent County Stormwater 

Maintenance District pursuant to Chapter 52, Title 9 of the Delaware Code 
and Section 90.4.E(10), Chapter 187 of the Kent County Code- SWM-18-02 
Fox Hollow 

Ms. Keifer: The first application before the Levy Court is Resolution 3750. This 
is a resolution adding the Fox Hollow subdivision to the stormwater maintenance 
district. The majority of the affected lot owners have signed the petition in the 
affirmative and those signatures have been verified. All repairs to the 
infrastructure have been completed and inspected. The annual fee adopted for the 
FY20 budget is $28 per parcel. Billing for this subdivision will commence with 
the August 2020 tax bill doubling this year and next years. Staff recommends 
including the subdivision in the stormwater maintenance district; it meets all of 
the criteria; I'm happy to answer any questions you might have. 

Public Hearing Open on Resolution 3750 

IN FAVOR- None 

IN OPPOSITION -None 

Public Hearing Closed on Resolution 3750 

Mr. Sweeney: I Move to approve Resolution 3750, a resolution to extend the 
Kent County Stormwater Maintenance District pursuant to Chapter 52, Title 9 of 
the Delaware Code and Section 90.4.E (10), Chapter 187 ofthe Kent County 
Code- SWM-18-02 Subdivision of Fox Hollow; seconded by Mr. Pepper. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Yes, no opposition and I guess everybody wants it, so yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Hall: Yes, for reasons stated. 
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Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, reasons stated plus it's a good program, beneficial to the home 
owners and it will save them a lot of money. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: Yes, for all the reasons stated. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Resolution 3750 has been approved. 

PETITION FOR CONDITIONAL USE APPROVAL 

Mr. Banta: 
1. Application: C-19-05; Applicant & Owner: John C. & Michele Gearhart; 

Zoning District I Proposed Use: AC (Agricultural Conservation) I Home based 
Contractors Establishment; Area & Location I ID#: 2.7± acres on the eastern 
side of the cul-de-sac of Pee Wee Ct., approx. 487ft. southeast ofUnderwoods 
Comer Rd. (Co. Rd. 94), north and west ofthe Town of Clayton I KH-00-
0 18.00-01-28.32-00001 

Ms. Keifer: Application C-19-05 is a conditional use application for a Home 
Based Contractors Establishment. The site is zoned AC -Agricultural 
Conservation. It is 2. 7 acres, located at 107 Pee Wee Court outside of the growth 
zone. The Regional Planning Commission took testimony on this application at 
their September 51

h hearing and at their September 12th business meeting voted to 
recommend conditional approval. Among the specific conditions recommended 
by the Regional Planning Commission are no signage associated with the use, that 
the applicant install a fence and vegetative buffer along adjacent properties and 
the applicant suggested a contribution of 113 the cost of private road maintenance 
as opposed to the 115 that would ordinarily be required. So again, this comes with 
a recommendation for approval. I'm happy to answer any questions you might 
have. 

Mr. Banta: And all those recommendations are included in the file for future 
reference, correct? 

Ms. Keifer: Yes, they are. 

Public Hearing Open on Application C-19-05 

IN FAVOR 

Gary Dodge, Curley, Dodge, Funk and Street, Dover, DE: The Staff report is 
accurate in every respect. The Gearharts are here should there be any questions 
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by any ofthe Commissioners that they wish to be posed to them. The only thing 
that I would add is that since we were here last is that it has come to my attention 
that one of the misconceptions that the community had been operating under at 
the RPC hearing about the applicability of restrictive covenants was broader than 
perhaps we might have thought. I share that only because it is entirely 
conceivable that this body could be confronted with additional applications from 
people living on the street for similar types of conditional use permits. The 
proportion of contribution to road maintenance I would hope would be reflected 
in the report is something that would have to be revisited were there to be similar 
applications and the demands would be increased on that road. That being said, 
my only additional comment is in this world of criticism being far too prevalent 
and praise being far too minimal, I do wish to thank Ms. Keifer and her Staff for 
their professionalism and courtesy in dealing with these issues. I just think the 
Commissioners should hear that occasionally as opposed to the criticism that's all 
too prevalent. Have you any questions for me? 

Mr. Banta: Mr. Dodge, I've got two. There were nine code requirements that 
were written into the framework of this application and there were three items for 
conditional use which includes the fence. Is your client prepared to do all those 
things? 

Mr. Dodge: Yes. 

Mr. Banta: That's the only question I've got. 

Mr. Sweeney: Mr. Dodge, I'm sure you've read the covenants, the deeds. Any 
idea why Lot #2 was excluded? 

Mr. Dodge: Actually the ... what you're referencing is precisely the mistake that I 
made several weeks ago. So you understand, there are two parts to this 
community. The original part to this community was a strip subdivision across, I 
think Underwoods Comer Road. The lots in that area were the ones that were 
subject to restrictive covenants and it was Lot 2 of that strip subdivision that was 
excluded and we would have to speculate but we suspected it was excluded 
because the person or the party imposing those restrictive covenants was still the 
owner and therefore did not want to have those covenants bind their property even 
though they bound every other property. The properties that we're talking about 
now that are on Pee Wee Court and they would be parcels 21, 32, 33, 34 and 35 
are not subject to any restrictive covenants and therein lies the mistake that I 
confess I made and Mr. Conley was kind enough to point that out to me 
yesterday. So, some of the uproar that was anticipated at the RPC was the 
product of an inaccurate expectation that those five lots were subject. .. all subject 
to the restrictive covenants when in reality none of them are. Which is exactly 
why I raised the question about the possibility of having to reapportion the 
common expenses for the maintenance for that road should, for instance, that very 
large parcel, parcel33 become the subject matter of a similar petition before the 
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RPC and then this body. So, we want to make certain that if the precedents set 
tonight for reapportioning those expenses is set tonight; it should be followed 
going forward with similar types of applications. 

Mr. Sweeney: Thank you, great explanation. So, in looking at the pictures that 
were provided by the County of the lot ... go back one ... right there, so right there, 
it only shows two, maybe three vehicles next to the outbuilding but if I look on 
Google there's at least three trucks there plus two trailers. Are they using the site 
for more storage than just to park trucks or are trailers kept in the garage or out of 
site? 

Mr. Dodge: My understanding is the vehicles you see there in this image, and I'll 
ask Mr. Gearhart to confirm or refute, are vehicles belonging to their employees 
who arrive in the morning and leave their vehicles there during the day when they 
take the company vehicles to the site. They have very little in the way of storage 
there. They store some sheathing there from what I understand. All the material 
is delivered to them on-site. It's my further understanding that with the 
anticipated passage of this, the Gearhart's are going to recognize there's a one 
vehicle on the exterior limitation under the code and abide by that. I hope that 
answers your question. 

Mr. Sweeney: It did, thank you. 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Application C-19-05 

Mr. Banta: This application is in my district, I have talked with some of the 
neighbors in the area; the impression that I got from them, and I don't want to 
swell Mr. Dodge's head but they seem rather favorable with his comments at the 
RPC level, so I appreciate that. With that being said, no one appeared here 
tonight in opposition I Move that we approve Application C-19-05, with all the 
code requirements, anything else that was pertinent to that in the RPC hearing; 
seconded by Mr. Sweeney and Mr. Pepper. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Based on President Banta's comments, RPC giving a conditional 
operation and Staff recommendation, I vote yes. 

Mr. Banta: Based on RPC recommendation, Staff recommendation and my 
comments, I vote yes. 

Mr. Buckson: For the sake of consistency and clarity, routinely we deal with 
these types of issues when it comes to deed and deed restrictions. It appears clear 
to me based on the evidence presented that the restrictions do not apply so that 
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alleviates that issue and then the remaining factor would be the cul-de-sac and the 
roads. It appears we've met with a distinct compromise so based on that as well 
as the other comments made, I'm in favor. 

Mr. Hall: Yes, based on Staff and RPC recommendations. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, based on comments made and no opposition. 

Mr. Sweeney: I, like Mr. Buckson, am really starting to give a lot of deference to 
deed restrictions when they come in front which is exactly why I asked Mr. 
Dodge the question concerning the deed restrictions on this particular lot. And 
also it looks like the applicant is willing to make some adjustments to satisfy 
some of the surrounding homeowners who were in opposition at the RPC but 
apparently either didn't come here or came and chose not to speak, so based on 
Staff recommendation, RPC recommendation, Mr. Dodge's response concerning 
the deeds, my vote's yes. 

Mr. Pepper: My vote's yes, based on all the testimony provided tonight and all 
the previous comments, yes. 

Roll Call vote reveals seven (7) yeas. Application C-19-05 has been approved. 

PETITIONS FOR CONDITIONAL USE REQUIRING 
SITE PLAN APPROVAL 

Mr. Hall: 
1. Application/Name: CS-15-06 (REV) Lakeland Mini Storage (Millstone): 

Applicant/Owner: Lakeland Commercial Group, Inc.; Zoning District I 
Proposed Use: BN -Neighborhood Business (±11.38 Acres) & BG -General 
Business (±9.08 Acres) I Additional Office Buildings and Mini Storage; 
Area & Location I ID#: 20.46 ±acre parcel (Area of Redevelopment= ±5.04 
acres) located on the east side of South State Street and the south side of 
Beechwood A venue, with proposed development along both sides of Lakeland 
Avenue, south ofDover I ED-00-086.00-01-19.01-00001 

Ms. Keifer: The next application, CS-15-06 is a revision to an existing 
conditional use site plan for Lakeland Mini Storage. The proposal is to expand 
the site with an additional office buildings and warehouse units; four office 
building, two mini warehouse buildings. The site in question is 6.14 acres on the 
east side of South State Street and the south side of Beechwood A venue, just 
south of Dover. The Regional Planning Commission took testimony about this 
application at their September 5th hearjng and at their September 12th business 
meeting voted unanimously to recommend conditional approval. I'm happy to 
answer any questions you might have. 
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Mr. Sweeney: Ms. Keifer, on the plans that were provided ... that one, right there, 
are those all of the proposed buildings for this site? They haven't been filled yet? 

Ms. Keifer: For the expansion, yeah. 

Mr. Sweeney: So there not there yet. 

Ms. Keifer: No, there are the propose_d buildings to expand the site. 

Mr. Sweeney: Perfect, thank you. 

Public Hearing Open on Application CS-15-06 

IN FAVOR 

Chad Warren, 1 Park Avenue, Milford, DE: Just as was stated we are proposing 
the expansion of an existing business park. Already has existing office buildings 
and storage buildings and we are proposing additional. .. four additional office 
buildings, two mini warehouse buildings, all the required parking for this site, 
landscaping and such. Just here to answer any question anyone may have. 

Mr. Buckson: Just a simple one. Typically I'll read the minutes from the RPC. 
Your testimony's a little bit abbreviated possibly. It starts out with "not to 
reiterate everything I just mentioned." So I don't know what you mentioned so 
I'll just be simple, do you agree with everything, you're certain of everything 
that's being asked, the conditions that are being placed upon you and you agree 
with them? 

Mr. Warren: Yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Thanks. 

Mr. Sweeney: They did a traffic study and they referenced a lot of things about 
what the type of buildings it was going to be. Was there a number they gave you 
to what the traffic impact would be on a normal basis? 

Mr. Warren: I think there's a traffic diagram included on the plan. I think it's 
actually in the conditions too as well that were previously given. 

Mr. Sweeney: I'm looking at the Trip Generation Diagram that has, I don't 
know ... mini warehouse, general office, medical office for existing and future. 

Mr. Warren: Correct. 

Mr. Sweeqey: I'm looking at 946 additional trips generated from your 
construction? 
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Mr. Warren: That's total from the site. 

Mr. Sweeney: Okay. Perfect, that's all I needed, thank you. 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Application CS-15-06 

I Move to approve Application CS-15-06 with conditions; seconded by 
Mr. Buckson. 

Roll Call 

9/24/2019 

Mr. Angel: I believe that I didn't vote for this last time because it was doing 
away with manufactured homes and affordable housing however now that it's 
moved forth and as the County Chair for Economic Development and Business I 
have to say it was voted on last time so I'm going to have to pass it this time, so 
yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, for the reasons stated. 

Mr. Hall: Yes, based on Staff and RPC recommendations. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, reasons stated, no opposition and it's a continuation oflong 
range plans for the area, yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Application CS-15-06 has been approved. 

Mr. Howell: 
1. Application/Name: CS-19-031Hillandale Farms; Applicant/Owner: Becker 

Morgan Group, Inc. I Ian & Linda Sydell; Zoning District I Proposed Use: 
AC (Agricultural Conservation) I Wholesale Trade with Facilities for Storage 
and Transport of Farm Products; Area & Location I ID#: 66.40± acres on 
the north side of Fords Comer Rd. (Co. Rd. 98) approx. 980ft. east of Everetts 
Comer Rd. (Co. Rd. 48), northwest of Hartly I KH-00-053.00-01-63.00-00001 
& WD-00-063.00-02-07.00-00001 I 
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Ms. Keifer: Next item is CS-19-03, a Conditional Use Site Plan for a Wholesale 
Trade of Farm Products. The site is zoned AR/Agricultural Residential, located 
outside the Growth Zone. The site area in question is just over 17 acres. It's on 
the north side ofFords Comer Road east of Everetts Comer Road, northwest of 
Hartly. The Regional Planning Commission took testimony at their September 5th 

hearing and at their September 12111 business meeting voted unanimously to 
recommend conditional approval. I'm happy to answer any questions you might 
have. 

Public Hearing Open on Application CS-19-03 

IN FAVOR 

Greg Moore, 309 South Governors Avenue, Dover, DE: You're looking at the 
aerial of the Sydell Egg Farm and the Sydell Egg Farm actually started in the 
1920s. At that point in time it was a traditional home farm. Mr. Sydell who is 
here with me, his grandfather started it and he had eggs, chickens, and also tilled 
about 80 acres of the land there, the brown there is the tillable area. In the 1960s 
Mr. Sydell's father took over that farm and continued to till the area and 
Mr. Sydell actually grew up there with his family and lived there until much later 
in his life. He continues to farm this property and there's about 33 acres of 
tillable land there. You can see there in the center is the Sydell egg operation. It 
has been an egg producing farm; it has been an egg processing farm; it has been 
an egg distribution farm and some versions of all three of those things since the 
20s. So this is a classic farm that has been in Kent County for a long time. We do 
have two photographs that we want to show you. So you can see where the 
images are coming from and one from behind where you can see the tillable land 
and you can see tucked in the middle of the tillable acres is the Sydell egg 
operation and again, from the road tillable land in the front and the egg operation 
in the center of the farm so it's very well separated from the rest ofthe property. 
A few lots have been sold off by Mr. Sydell over the years to housing and he did 
put in a deed restriction notifying those purchasers that is was an egg farm and an 
egg operation and a farm operation and that there would be impacts and wanted to 
make sure that those folks who moved in knew that's what they were getting 
themselves into. So with that we did make the same presentation at the RPC. The 
only request we make is there's two comments on page 4. Number one DelDOT 
asked that they begin a Plan Review Process for an entrance. As an active farm 
that's been there since the 1920s with the same entrance this developer, excuse 
me, this farmer I don't believe needs a plan or a new entrance plan. He continues 
to use the entrance that's there. We're not introducing new traffic we're simply 
proposing a pole bam that will be for storage and for maintenance of farm 
equipment and trucks that are there. There's only 12 trucks a day so this is not an 
intense use but there is some trucking of eggs in and out of this facility. In 
addition, on page 4 there's a request for a Letter ofNo Objection from DelDOT. 
Again, this is an active entrance that exists and we believe this is more of a use 
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issue of the egg operation on this property. So with that I'll be glad to answer any 
questions. 

Mr. Buckson: Thank you, Mr. Moore for being here and the farming family. 
Sometimes existing language code fails to evolve like the market does, for 
example farming operations. I think this might be an example of where we need 
to revisit the language in our code to adjust but tonight's not the time to make that 
decision. I think we can produce some information and work with the Farm 
Bureau to make that happen. I would just make the comment that I agree with the 
request and whomever it is that decides to make the motion and if it is in favor 
that we include striking the referenced particulars on page 4, the two that Mr. 
Moore references related to DelDOT. With that I'm finished. 

Mr. Pepper: Not a question so much, but what impact would this cause on the rest 
of the farming community? 

Mr. Moore: What impact on the rest of the farming community? 

Mr. Pepper: The *INAUDIBLE* that you want to have stricken? If it's 
approved and we continue on down this road what kind of impacts could this 
cause the rest of the farming community? 

Mr. Moore: You mean as it relates to the DelDOT? 

Mr. Pepper: Yes. 

Mr. Moore: I think it would be grossly unfair to the farming community to make 
them go to DelDOT and pursue entrance plan approval which puts them in the 
position of improving roads, tum lanes, etc. for practices that they've been doing 
for years. I think you'd hear ... or you'd see a lot of farmers leave this community 
if that was what you required. 

Mr. Pepper: Alright, thank you. Hopefully that's part of the motion. 

Michael Scuse, 887 Hawkey Branch Road, Smyrna, DE: I really don't think that 
there was a need for this to come before this body as a conditional use. You see 
that it is an active farming operation not unlike farming operations that we 
currently have in Kent County and the State of Delaware. I would hope that you 
would approve this conditional use but would take out the condition that pertains 
to DelDOT. I think this will go down as an area that could have future 
ramifications on agriculture not just here in Kent County but throughout the State 
of Delaware. To have our producers go through a DelDOT review any time that 
there was a change in there operation I think would be unnecessary and a burden, 
additional burden for those producers. Also want to point out that Kent County 
and Agland preservation has over 500 farms permanently protected and preserved 
in this County, 501 to be exact. They have 70,000 acres of farmland permanently 
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protected in this County. Over half of the land that's permanently protected in 
this State is here in this County. I think it would be unfortunate ifthis body in 
this County was viewed as being unfriendly to our producers in this County and 
the State of Delaware, so I would recommend approval of this but the elimination 
of the condition as it pertains to the Department of Transportation. I'll be glad to 
answer any questions gentlemen. 

Richard Wilkins, 9311 Memory Road, Greenwood, DE: As Secretary Scuse just 
so eloquently said Delaware Farm Bureau wants to echo those comments. We see 
this as a dangerous trend if this was to continue, to require conditional use permits 
for agricultural infrastructure in agricultural areas. You know anything that helps 
to increase agricultural infrastructure helps to insure the preservation, the 
profitability of agriculture in Kent County. And the best way to preserve 
agriculture is to maintain our profitability. 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Application CS-19-03 

Mr. Howell: I do Move that we approve CS-19-03. Mr. Buckson you had some 
comments and I'm not going to try to repeat them; I'll be glad to make you a part 
ofthis motion and we'll just wrap it up; seconded by Mr. Buckson. 

Mr. Buckson: In very simple terms, referenced in the packet if Staff is familiar 
with that there is a request for a DelDOT review and then .. .it's page 4, there's 
two specific notes that reference DelDOT and we'd like to strike those two. If 
I'm being too vague, I have ... I'm aware of the issue but I cannot find it in this 
packet right here. 

Ms. Keifer: Just to clarify ... 

Mr. Buckson: I'm trying to be specific. I mean I have looked and looked and ... 

Ms. Keifer: It is a Code requirement; it's down toward the end ofthat page that 
DelDOT sign off on Conditional Use Site Plans. So I think it's perfectly 
reasonable if Levy Court wants to strike that requirement that DelDOT supply a 
Letter ofNo Objection, that's how Staff will proceed. 

Mr. Buckson: Using Sarah's language and I still cannot find it but that's quite 
fine, using Sarah's language I make a second. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Yes, with discussions with Commissioners Howell, Buckson and Ms. 
Keifer on the DelDOT issue, RPC conditional approval and Staff 
recommendation, I vote yes. 
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Mr. Buckson: Only based on my insecurities I just want to point out that it says, 
one DelDOT Division Highways, that ' s all it says. With that said, I'm going to 
vote yes based on my previous comments. Thank you. 

Mr. Hall: Yes, as revised based on RPC recommendations and Staff 
recommendations. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Roll Call vote reveals seven (7) yeas. Application CS-19-03 has been approved. 

2. Application/Name: CS-19-04/Rose Industries; Applicant/Owner: Rose 
Industries; Zoning District I Proposed Use: BG (General Business) I 
Contractors Establishment; Area & Location I ID#: 8.1 ±acres on the west 
side of S. DuPont Hwy. approx. 1 ,518ft. south of Plymouth Rd. (Co. Rd. 239), 
north ofFelton I SM-00-129.01-01-60.00-00001 

Ms. Keifer: Application CS-19-04 is a Conditional Use Site Plan application for a 
contractor's establishment with outdoor storage. The site is zoned BG/General 
Business. It is just over 8 acres west of Route 13 between Plymouth Road and 
Andrews Lake Road, north of Felton. It's located inside the Growth Zone. The 
Regional Planning Commission took testimony at their September 5th hearing and 
at their September 12th business meeting voted unanimously to recommend 
conditional approval. That recommendation also includes the recommendation to 
approve a waiver from the interior sidewalk requirement due to existing site 
constraints. So again this comes with a recommendation for approval. I'm happy 
to answer any questions you might have. 

Public Hearing Open on Application CS-19-04 

IN FAVOR 

Troy Adams, 103 South Bradford Street, Dover, DE: Good evening everybody. 
As stated this property ... you all recognize this as the old drive-in theater and its' 
been vacant for some time, and Rose Industries has purchased this property with 
mind to build a contractor's establishment. It will serve as a warehouse for 
warehouse space, office space and a fenced in area will be for storage of vehicles 
and equipment related to the business. The business will be a concrete 
construction company, no concrete produced there they just construct with 
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concrete primarily. So this building is just under 10,000 square feet, pretty 
normal. It'll have all the components of ... all the necessary DelDOT components 
with an addition added is a right turn lane which is not warranted but the client 
has so chosen to build one just for safety reasons. The storm water situation is 
relatively normal. The water will be transferred into the site via roadside swells 
and into a storage facility in the rear. We do agree with all the recommendations 
and requirements that the Staff has recommended and we will comply. So with 
that I'll take any questions. 

Mr. Buckson: Are we having a discussion about the sidewalk or not? Do you 
now agree? 

Mr. Adams: I do agree, yes sir. 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Application CS-19-04 

Mr. Howell: I Move that we approve CS-19-04, Rose Industries; seconded by 
Mr. Sweeney. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: No opposition, since the subject site is zoned for BG which does 
permit for outside storage as a conditional use, I vote yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, based on previous comments. 

Mr. Hall: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: Based on recommendations by RPC and Staff as well and the 
comments we've heard this evening, I vote yes. 

Roll Call vote reveals seven (7) yeas. Application CS-19-04 has been approved. 

Mr. Hall: 
1. Application/Name: CS-19-05 I Redeemed Christian Church of God; 

Applicant/Owner: Vincent Ikwuagwu I Redeemed Christian Church of God; 
Zoning District I Proposed Use: RS 1 (Single Family Residential) /Church; 
Area & Location I ID#: 2.0± acres on northeast comer of S State St. (US Rt. 
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113A) and Highview Ave. (Co. Rd. 354), south of Dover I ED-00-086.09-01-
76.00-00001 

Ms. Keifer: The next item is Application CS-19-05. It's a Conditional Use Site 
Plan for a Church. The site is two acres on the northeast comer of South State 
Street and High view A venue within the Growth Zone. The site is zoned RS 1. 
The Regional Planning Commission took testimony on the application at their 
September 51

h bearing and at their September 121
b business meeting voted to 

recommend conditional approval. To be noted this is an application that was 
actually previously approved by the Levy Court. Unfortunately they were not 
able to finish the site plan process in time to get final plan approval within the 18 
months so it's processing again. It is the same application you saw 18 months 
ago. Again, it comes with a recommendation for approval. I'm happy to answer 
any questions you might have. 

Mr. Pepper: Ms. Keifer, you just covered it but we heard this18 months ago and 
I don't think there was any opposition whatsoever was there? 

Ms. Keifer: I don't remember hearing any but I haven't checked the testimony. I 
don't recall opposition. I think a neighbor came with questions. 

Mr. Pepper: Yeah, I believe you're right. So can you explain again why this has 
to go back through this process? 

Ms. Keifer: Chapter 187 Subdivision and Land Development says that with any 
land development plans such as a conditional use plan, once you have preliminary 
plan approval you have 18 months to complete your engineering, get all of your 
State agency approvals and get final plan approval for us. They were not able to 
accomplish that so the plan effectively expired. So for it to be active again 
they've got to go through the process again. 

Mr. Pepper: Thank you. 

Mr. Sweeney: So, Ms. Keifer they had to repay the application fee for the second 
time around? 

Ms. Keifer: It's a brand new application. 

Mr. Sweeney: Okay, first question. Second question, a traffic impact study was 
not required for this site but it was required for the Lakeview site ... or the 
Lakeland Mini Storage. 

Ms. Keifer: TIS is not yet been required for Lakeland that's why if you look at 
the Lakeland conditions of approval one of them has to do with how much 
specifically medical office space there can be because they're trying to manage 
trip generation so as not to trigger TIS yet. 
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Mr. Sweeney: Okay, so they're trying to manage it which means they would limit 
what they're able to build in that site or if they want to put more dental.. ~ medical 
offices in there they would have to do some type of road improvement along the 
road there. 

Ms. Keifer: They would have to actually conduct the traffic impact study and at 
that point that would lead DelDOT to determine what improvements are required. 

Mr. Sweeney: Okay so that was Lakeland but for the Redeemed Christian Church 
of God there was no requirement for traffic impact study at all? 

Ms. Keifer: Correct. 

Mr. Sweeney: Because the number of. .. average of trips is less than 50 so there's 
no requirement? 

Ms. Keifer: It did not meet the requirement. 

Mr. Sweeney: Okay, thank you. 

Mr. Buckson: Just a point of clarification, as I mentioned earlier when the 
agricultural application came through, the egg farm and we talked about 
addressing that with changes to our code and we will. This application and others 
like it is also presented as an opportunity for us to make some changes. The 18 
month window sometimes presents a problem with getting through the process 
especially when you have other agencies that are involved in getting things done. 
So I believe we're going to look at language that's going to move to 24 months 
with an official notification from the County at 18 months to make sure they're 
aware that they're coming up on a deadline. I think all those things are business 
friendly, they are all things that we continue to adjust for based on needs. So it 
doesn't help this application but it is just something I wanted to point out to you. 

Mr. Hall: Question for Staff. With this particular application here it didn't trigger 
a traffic impact study and with the Lakeland property that didn't trigger but an 
aggregate ... And because I come out on that road each day and because I have 
heard from a number of people whose concern with this particular application 
really focus is on traffic. Is there any way to signal to DelDOT the need to just 
look at traffic on South State Street as these ... as all of these things just kind of 
pile up? 

Ms. Keifer: In honesty, South State Street has been studied by a combination of 
the Dover Kent Metropolitan Planning Organization and DelDOT at least twice 
since I've worked with the County and one of our Planning Commissioners 
testified that it had been done in the 90s. DelDOT studied it .. .I think DelDOT 
struggles with how to implement any improvements to *INAUDIBLE.* 
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Mr. Hall: Thank you. 

Public Hearing Open on CS-19-05 

IN FAVOR 

Pastor Vincent Ikwuagwu, 310 Pebble Drive, Camden, DE: This is the same 
application that came before you that you just heard about 18 months ago. 
Unfortunately like Mr. Buckson pointed out we got up with the issue oftime and 
anyone that is familiar with doing business with DelDOT knows that every 
application and they will tell you that it takes around 90 days before they respond. 
They look at it, they make an adjustment, you go back and they say another 90 
days before they look at your adjustment. In an attempt to satisfy every 
requirement that DelDOT pointed out to make sure that everybody's in ... that 
we're in compliance we were not able to finish up in the 18 months so we had to 
come back here again. I wish that we could have waived paying the money that 
paid *INAUDIBLE* but we had to pay *INAUDIBLE* again to start. But our 
Redeemed Christian Church of God is a very powerful church all over the nation. 
We have over 1,000 parishes all over the nation. We are in Smyrna, we are in 
Middletown, we are in New Castle, we are in Newark, we are in Dover. We have 
one here in Camden. We do a lot of work for the community. We work with 
*INAUDIBLE* doing a lot of work for the community helping the youth, keeping 
the youth out of the street and bringing them to realization for God and powerful 
service for the community at least that's what we're all about. I think it's going to 
be a very wonderful addition especially in that location. It was vacant for more 
than five years and we've really beautified the location right now. The only 
opposition we heard was about traffic and there have been so many studies about 
the road. It's not anything that we can convince DelDOT that will solve that but 
we have stayed there on Sundays and Wednesdays. A lot of the traffic situation 
that has been reported on Sundays .. .it doesn't happen. We come to church at 9 
o'clock, maybe 1 o'clock, 2 o'clock we're out. At the time we come to church 
that place is very, very clear. The other day that we come there on Wednesday 
evening for bible studies so we basically use that location most of the time just 
two days in the week. Our presence just for 87 member church will not really 
hardly impact the movement of traffic in that location. We please urge you to 
give us the same approval we received before. Thank you. 

Mr. Sweeney: You state you have 87 members of the church. 

Mr. Ikwuagwu: That's the capacity ofthe church we are seeking approval for. 

Mr. Sweeney: And you meet on Wednesday nights for bible study, Sunday 
morning at 9 o'clock for church service? 

Mr. Ikwuagwu: Yes sir. 
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Mr. Sweeney: Because of your community outreach is there a chance that 
sometime in the future you'll increase the nights for youth meetings or anything 
like that? 

Mr. Ikwuagwu: Yes, there are chances for that but I don't think it will be a thing 
that will be overly impactful to the area. It will still be at times maybe in the 
evening. The traffic there is generated mostly because people are catching that 
road to go to work and leave to go to the southern part of Delaware so a lot of 
times when we are there, 7 o'clock people are already out of work and that traffic 
has already lessened. Even when we organize programs it will not impact... Also 
understand that the location we have is a 2 acre lot so we have enough space to do 
whatever we want to do in that space. 

Mr. Sweeney: Thank you. 

Bob Haines, 1592 South Street, Dover, DE: I'm here to support the application. 
I've known the applicant since 1998. He's an outstanding citizen in the 
community and I'm also very familiar with the property. It's in a ... the 
conversion to a church would be an improvement to the property and I urge your 
support. Thank you. 

Mr. Sweeney: You don't live at that property? On South State Street? 

Mr. Haines: No, no. 

Mr. Sweeney: So the ... you rent that property out? 

Mr. Haines: Yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: Do you get complaints from the renters about the ability to get out 
on State Street? 

Mr. Haines: No. 

Mr. Sweeney: Thank you. 

Jerome McCann, Jr., 201 Tootel Court, Dover, DE: I'm a senior student at 
Wilmington University, Criminal Justice major and also I work with the Delaware 
Board of Pardons. I'm a Big Brother with the Delaware Big Brother Big Sister 
Organization and I have been a member of this church since 2013. I am currently 
the Youth Leader for the church and I have gone to several events from 20 13 to 
now and the version of this church is unique and stays the same from wherever 
perspective you look at it as far as family, as far as reaching youth, as far as 
reaching the community. We have done outreach programs with community that 
we have. We have done feeding when we were out when we were at our previous 
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location right by the Royal Farms there on Route 10. So as a young man and as a 
young adult who has known the church for over five years I can affirm that our 
being in the community will be of help to the community and I'm just here to 
state my support and ifthere's any questions that needs to be asked that I can 
answer. 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Application CS-19-05 

Mr. Hall Moved to approve Application CS-19-05; seconded by Mr. Sweeney. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Yes, RPC approvals, Staff recommendations for conditional use, yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, based on reasons stated. 

Mr. Hall: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, based on reasons stated, plus it's a lot less of a traffic concern 
than other establishments that could go on that location, so my answer is yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, based on reasons stated and having a church such as that plus 
the testimony from Mr. McCann, great thing for the community, my vote's yes. 

Mr. Banta: Based on RPC recommendations, Staff recommendation and no 
opposition, I vote yes. 

Roll Call vote reveals seven (7) yeas. Application CS-19-05 has been approved. 

PETITIONS TO AMEND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP 
AND ZONING MAP: 

Mr. Howell: 
1. Ordinance LC19-02, An Ordinance to amend the Comprehensive Plan Map 

Designation and the Official Zoning Map of Kent County, Delaware pursuant 
to the provisions of Kent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205 Zoning, Article 
III, Section 205-8 and Section 205-9, and Article XXVIII (changes and 
amendments) effective December 01, 2000, as amended. (Ref: Applicant I 
Owner: Decktor, Alan I County Line Investments, LLC; Proposed Zoning 
District: BG (General Business); Area & Location I ID#: 2.88± acres on the 
west side of South DuPont Highway, approximately 2,400 ft. south of Marsh 
Branch Road, south of Farmington I MN-00-199.00-01-51.07-000) 
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Ms. Keifer: Ordinance LC 19-02 is a rezoning application. The site in question is 
currently zoned AR and identified for low density residential. The proposal is to 
rezone to BG with a Comprehensive designation of Highway Commercial. The 
site is 2.8 acres on the west side of South DuPont Highway south of Marsh 
Branch Road south of Farmington outside the Growth Zone. The Regional 
P lanning Commission took testimony on th.is application at their June 6lh hearing 
and at their June business meeting voted to recommend denial of the application 
citing that the proposal is not in keeping with the surrounding area and does not 
comport with the Comprehensive Plan. I'm happy to answer any questions you 
might have. 

John Paradee, 6 South State Street, Dover, DE: You should have in front of you 
copies of our power point presentation including the exhibits and I would ask that 
that be made a part of the record. I will not bore you by reading it to you tonight 
but I will try to just skim through it and hit the highlights. 

Mr. Paradee went through the slides making note that nothing would change; 
there's no proposed change to the building. The building is already in use and the 
physical building would not change. He continued with a description of 
Humphries Construction and their projects. Mr. Paradee made note of the 
changing character of the neighborhood with many BN and BG parcels located 
immediately to the north and several to the south and even across the street, 
namely the Farmington Hot Mix Asphalt Plant, the Willard Agri-Services, 
Beracah Homes, Atlantic Aluminum Products, Freedom Materials and JBS Home 
Construction. Mr. Paradee further submitted "a small parcel on a major arterial 
highway located in very close proximity to two municipalities is consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan and the character and intensity of nonresidential land 
uses in the area." 

Mr. Paradee asked the Commissioners to focus on a couple of quotes taken 
directly from the Comprehensive Plan encouraging development in and around 
municipalities. 

Mr. Paradee mentioned there was a petition signed by 24 immediate neighbors to 
the property who support the project. There are also six letters of support in the 
packet submitted by neighbors. At this point he asked those present who are in 
favor of this application to please stand up. 

Mr. Paradee: In conclusion, the application meets your code criteria. It's 
consistent with the character of the area. It's in close proximity to two 
municipalities. More than adequate infrastructure exists. No objection from any 
State of local agencies and it has broad support from neighbors and the local 
community. For all of those reasons we would respectfully ask for your favorable 
consideration. I'd be happy to answer any question you may have. 
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Mark Yoder, Jr. 8289 Greenwood Road, Greenwood, DE: I have just a couple 
of things. First of all every time I come to a meeting like this I really appreciate 
what you men do to take time work on these things and I feel like we owe a debt 
to people that are willing to service in this way. I want to mention three things. 
First of all the appropriateness of this request, any of us that drive up and down 13 
know it's not any interstate, it's not a minimal access road. We're all use to the 
coming and going and as already been very well stated this kind of thing is all 
over the place there. So those of us around there feel like it's very valid. The 
second thing is sometimes you stand here wondering what's all the motive in all 
of this. I don't know how to give a good people speech but these are good people. 
I think all of us here in the room are capitalist at heart, we think you deserve to 
make a profit. But some people are very greedy and they're going to turn around 
and take this if you approved it and just use it selfishly. These are not that kind of 
people. They're the kind of people that you'll be very happy you've made this 
approval down the road. They're the kind of people that help their neighbors and 
do good. And I think that should have some validity while you process these 
kinds of things. And the third is the role that you have. I don't know how many 
of you have ever been in a situation where it seemed like the letter of law 
condemned you. One of the things we love about our Country is such a thing as 
we have here tonight that we have some people that can look objectively beyond 
just this little letter of the law situation and say what is best and what is good. 
Sometimes and I don't know how to say this, but sometimes it feels like you get 
in departmental and relationship things that kind of make it hard to move outside 
the box. You know, people have this thing, if we approve this what about 
Pandora's Box that gets opened. I just want to say that we as society appreciate 
when men like you can look at this objectively and not just feel like there's some 
regulation we have to adhere to because that's your job in a sense, to look at this 
and say, is it for the good and is it for the best. There's quite a few of us here 
tonight that really feel think this would be for the good of everyone now and in 
the future. I'll be grateful if you make that decision. Any questions? 

Mr. Buckson: I have more than a question. First of all, I appreciate your 
statements Mr. Yoder. Clearly the Humphries are good people for those folks in 
the back to stick around until 8:30 and listen to everything they just had to listen 
to. Not including your application, but others. So I appreciate that. I think that 
you capture it correctly. This is not a situation where we need to change 
something, it is what it is. We have a Growth Zone but for the fact that this 
property sits briefly outside the Growth Zone then I think it fits everything. So 
for me personally that's why we have the ability to seek a remedy through the 
Levy Court and I think this is one of those times when clearly it fits the area. It 
has everything that's listed and certainly I'll be supporting it. 

Mr. Yoder: Appreciate it. 

Timothy Fleshman, 23250 South DuPont Highway, Greenwood, DE: Thank 
you, Mr. President for recognizing the Pledge of Allegiance this evening and 
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recognizing the service members that have passed away in combat. I'm retired 
United States Army after 20 years. I'm also a disabled vet with terminal cancer. I 
spent 15 years with Homeland Security out in Kansas City. I moved to this 
location back in 2017 after my father passed away to be the executor of the estate. 
My property adjoins where the structure is. I support the structure and the 
business and Mr. Humphries and Mr. Aycoth are trying to make happen. I feel 
that the structure's a great looking structure and it's aesthetic for the community 
and the area. I don't feel that, and I'm not a subject matter expert on it, but I feel 
that there's going to be no impact on any parking or getting in and out of where 
the structure is. I feel that it's going to build economy. I was listening to a 
program the other night that we're about 30,000 shy of a million as far' as 
residents here in the State of Delaware and that we have roughly 34,000 
unemployed. That's too many. I feel that any business that looks like a 
worthwhile business for the State of Delaware should be approved to reduce the 
amount of unemployed and homeless people that we have here in the State. As 
the gentleman said earlier Highway 13 is a main artery that goes right through the 
State and what I've picked up on since I've lived here is south Dover, Camden, 
Felton, Harrington, Farmington, Greenwood businesses are going to come 
eventually. Maybe there's going to be a business that' s going to compete with 
Mr. Humphries. Even if he only employs three people, which hopefully it's 
more than that, it's going to build economy, it's going to help those three families 
be able to do things that they haven't been able to do before because of the money 
they're to get. I'm a statistician, I like stats, I just hope that and pray that this 
body sees that this is going to be a worthwhile business and that you all will 
approve it. I'll remain here until you all throw something at me to get out of here. 

Mr. Banta: Thank you for your service to our Country. Welcome, we welcome 
all veterans. You're here tonight; it's great to see you. Sorry about your personal 
endeavors not working too well. There is a God and things could change. 

Mr. Fleshman: Pray every day. 

Mr. Banta: Thank you very much for your time. 

Robert Aycoth, 23258 South DuPont Highway, Greenwood, DE: I'm partners in 
the property with Danny but not in Humphries Construction. I am also a neighbor 
and my property ... I think I have more property that adjoins this parcel than 
anyone here except maybe Mr. Yoder. I don't. .. again I thank you for your time 
and·efforts tonight. I thank those of you that have a lot more information than I 
do. I'm a technical guy but I don't understand the intricacies of the decisions that 
you have to make and the information that you have to make those decisions. But 
I do know that small business is the backbone of our economy and I also know 
that Mr. Humphries runs a stellar organization in business. I've known Danny for 
over 25 years. His yes is yes and his no is no. And he has an incredible 
reputation with his customers and I think it's important to point out that I went to 
all the hearings for the transfer station and for those properties just north of us and 
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I knew they were going to negatively impact me getting out of my driveway every 
day. But I did not .. .I was not against them because I knew they generate jobs and 
I knew they'd be good for the community. And I believe this about this project 
also with Humphries Construction. It's also important to note that I've had a 
great relationship with my neighbors and I went to 24 neighbors that surround this 
property and asked them, told them what we were going to do and asked them if 
them if they had any opposition to this because I wanted them to be informed of 
what we were going to do and none of them opposed it. In fact they all support it 
because they understand too that we need places like this so businesses can 
operated legally and conduct business and employ. Danny has almost 10 
employees that are not part-time employees they're full-time employees with 
benefits and they support families. So I understand there are things that I don't 
recognize but I would humbly ask tonight that you give this careful consideration 
and approve this motion. Thank you very much for your time. Any questions? 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Ordinance LC19-02 

Mr. Howell: First of all I'd like to thank those of you who made those heartfelt 
comments; they were very inspiring. Secondly, I'd really like to commend the 
Staff because I know you did your work on this and you went by the book, which 
is what you're paid to do. But I... We've been working on this since what? Was 
it June? June or July we started dealing on this? I don't know but the handout 
that was passed out a little while ago by John I've read that three times. I've been 
on the phone with Mr. Humphries twice. I've talked with a whole host of people 
about this and I agree that technically it could be turned down. I think there are 
those instances where the Commissioners have to step in and provide the 
flexibility. It was clearly understood when the Comprehensive Plan was written 
that there would be those types of situations and exceptions and I think this is one 
of them. Consequently, I Move that we approve Ordinance LC 19-02; seconded 
by Mr. Pepper. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Yes, RPC approval, Delaware Development Advisory committee 
granted approval and based on the site I visited and the community, neighbors 
supporting the area and business, I definitely vote yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, based on comments made by myself and as well as others. 

Mr. Hall: I could be wrong; I believe the RPC voted to deny and Staff voted to 
deny. It doesn't conform to the Comprehensive Plan and the letter from the State 
Office of Planning is also against this, so I vote no. 

Mr. Howell: I vote yes, for reasons I gave and others also. 
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Mr. Pepper: I vote yes, based on previous comments, also I'm familiar with the 
area. I've known the area my entire life. The area's always been in transition and 
continues to be in transition. There's always been a lot of business type of 
opportunities down there. In the past there was a, I believe there was a small golf 
course down there, a driving range. So there's always been some type of business 
entity in that area so I vote yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated for in positive and in favor of this 
application. 

Mr. Banta: Certainly, based on the testimony we've heard tonight plus this is an 
economic driver, I vote yes. 

Roll Call reveals six (6) yeas; one (1) nay. Ordinance LC19-02 has been 
approved. 

2. Ordinance LC19-16, An Ordinance to amend the Comprehensive 
Plan Map Designation and the Official Zoning Map of Kent County, 
Delaware pursuant to the provisions of Kent County Code, Vol. II, 
Chapter 205 Zoning, Article III, Section 205-8 and Section 205-9, and 
Article XXVIII (changes and amendments) effective December 01, 
2000, as amended (Ref: Application: CZ-19-05; Applicant & Owner: 
Piecuski Raymond A.; Proposed Zoning District: BG (General 
Business); Area & Location I ID#: 0.355± acres (Area of Petition: 
0.15+ acres) on the south side of Forrest Ave, approx. 1,002' west of 
Nault Rd., west of Dover I WD-00-074.02-01-39.00-00001) 

Ms. Keifer: Ordinance LC 19-16 is another application for rezoning and 
Comprehensive Plan amendment. The site is .3 acres on the south side of Forrest 
Avenue west ofNault Road west of Dover outside the Growth Zone. It is 
currently split zoned, BG/General Business and AR/ Agricultural Residential and 
the proposal is for the entire parcel to be zoned BG. The Regional Planning 
Commission took testimony on the application at their September 5th hearing and 
at their September 1ih business meeting voted unanimously to recommend 
approval citing that the parcel is currently split zoned. It is in keeping largely 
with the surrounding area and the size of the site limits commercial development 
in the area. So again this comes with a recommendation for approval. I'm happy 
to answer any questions you might have. 

Public Hearing Open on Ordinance LC19-16 

IN FAVOR 

Raymond A. Piecuski, 5472 Pearsons Comer Road, Dover, DE: I'm just here to 
say that I've been running my own business for 25 years and it just recently come 
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to my attention that part of it wasn't zoned properly so I just want to get it zoned 
in to where I can operate the business and keep going the way it is. 

Mr. Banta: Appreciate your effort. 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Ordinance LC19-16 

Mr. Howell Moved to approve Ordinance LC 19-16; seconded by Mr. Pepper and 
Mr. Angel. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Yes, based on RPC and Staff. I've known the applicant for many, 
many years too, yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, based on reasons stated. 

Mr. Hall: Yes, based on RPC and Staff recommendations. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, all reasons stated. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: Based on the recommendations of RPC and Staff and the public 
comment, I vote yes. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Ordinance LC 19-16 has been approved. 

Mr. Hall: 
1. Ordinance LC19-17, An Ordinance to amend the Comprehensive Plan Map 

Designation and the Official Zoning Map of Kent County, Delaware pursuant 
to the provisions ofKent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205 Zoning, Article 
III, Section 205-8 and Section 205-9, and Article XXVIII (changes and 
amendments) effective December 01, 2000, as amended (Reference: CZ-19-
06 F AM Investments, LLC) (Ref: Application: CZ-19-06; Applicant & 
Owner: F AM Investments, LLC c/o Rodney Alexander; Proposed Zoning 
District: AR (Agricultural Residential); Area & Location I ID#: 0.44± acres 
located on the north side of Forrest Ave, approx. 176' east of Sharon Hill Rd., 
west ofDover I ED-00-075.02-01-18.00-00001 

Ms. Keifer: Ordinance LC 19-17 is again a rezoning application. The site is 
currently zoned EN/Neighborhood Business. The proposal is to rezone it to 
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AR/Agricultural Residential. The site is located outside the Growth Zone. It's .4 
acres on the north side ofForrest Avenue east of Sharon Hill Road west ofDover. 
The Regional Platming Commission took testimony on the application at their 
September 51

h hearing. At their September 12th business meeting they voted 
unanimously to recommend approval citing that the proposal is indeed in keeping 
with the surrounding area. So again this comes with a recommendation for 
approval. I'm happy to answer any questions you might have. 

Public Hearing Open on Ordinance LC19-17 

IN FAVOR 

Rodney Alexander, 40 Trimble Tum, Hockessin, DE: Basically the desire for 
the investment property on Forrest Avenue seemed to be more residential than 
small neighborhood business and either from a rental standpoint or from a 
saleable standpoint so therefore we move to change the zoning. 

IN OPPOSITION -None 

Public Hearing Closed on Ordinance LC19-17 

Mr. Hall Moved to approve Ordinance LC19-17; seconded by Mr. Pepper. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Yes, RPC approval and Staff approval, yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Hall: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: Based on RPC recommendations, Staff recommendations and public 
comment, I vote yes. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Ordinance LC 19-17 has been approved. 

KENT COUNTY ORDINANCES AMENDING 
THE CODE OF KENT COUNTY 
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Mr. Buckson: 
1. Ordinance LC19-18, Amendments to Chapter 187 (Subdivision and Land 

Development) - An Ordinance to amend Kent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 
187, Subdivision and Land Development, as amended by revising the 
following sections: Article II, §187-5, Definitions; Article III, §187-13, 
Jurisdiction of the Department of Planning Services; and, Article VII, § 187-
33.B., Administrative Approvals, for the purpose of designating the County 
Administrator as the staff level administrative decision making authority for 
Kent County Code, Chapter 187 

Ms. Keifer: The first ordinance before you Ordinance LC 19-18 is an amendment 
to Chapter 187 Subdivision and Land Development. It creates an additional 
internal appeals process for administrative waivers. The Regional Planning 
Commission took testimony on the ordinance at the September 5th hearing and at 
their September 12th business meeting voted to recommend denial of the 
ordinance. I'm happy to answer any questions you might have. 

Public Hearing Open on Ordinance LC19-18 

IN FAVOR 

Bill Holmes, 724 South State Street, Dover, DE: The reason I'm here tonight as a 
former member of the Kent County Regional Planning Commission for some 24 
years, past chairman for over 9 lh. I'm here to testify in favor of these Ordinances 
LC 19-02 and LC 19-16 to the Kent County Code. I feel these amendments are 
needed to help more businesses come to Kent County to get approved faster and 
make this a more friendlier place to do business and also to help the current 
business community to grow their businesses and be profitable. Also I feel this 
will get businesses approval faster with a faster tum-around time .. I also feel that 
the way you have it set up is the way you have Mr. Petit de Mange involved with 
it he's a professional when it comes to planning and administration and I feel he'll 
do a great job policing this. I just want to thank you all very much for this 
opportunity and I wish you all the best and thank you for all you've done for me. 
It's really great; you're all my friends. Thank you so much. 

Mr. Banta: Mr. Holmes, I appreciate you being here. I just have a question for 
you. The number on this ordinance LC 19-18 and the next one is LC 19-19. I 
don't think you've referenced those numbers ... 

Mr. Holmes: I think you're probably right. 

Mr. Banta: Not necessarily right ... 

Mr. Holmes: I'm here to testify in favor of Ordinance LC19-18 and LC19-19. 

Mr. Banta: Got it, thank you. 
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Mr. Holmes: That's what I'm here for. I'm going to do it both at once I'm not 
going to pop here again next time because that'll just save time. I want to thank 
you all very much. Thanks so much. See you. 

Phillip McGinnis, 555 East Loockerman Street, Dover, DE: I'm here in favor of 
both of these ordinances. (Sworn in) I'm here to testify in favor ofthese two 
ordinances. I think the conflict is or should be obvious that we have to appeal 
decisions made to the person who originally made the decisions. So having 
Mr. Petit de Mange as the appellant hearing officer or whatever you would call it I 
think alleviates the conflict of having to go back to the person who made the 
original decision that you are appealing. So I am in favor of these ordinances. 
Thank you. 

Dennis McGlynn, 555 South Bay Road, Dover, DE: I'm sure you're all aware of 
the initiative across the State to make Delaware the most business friendly State is 
could possibly be, all in an effort to foster economic development. And it's from 
our understanding at the partnership these two amendments are in align with those 
initiatives in so far as they can in certain cases streamline the development 
process, in other cases perhaps save some expense and time on behalf of the 
applicants. So these are positive outcomes in our view. We support them, the 
board has asked me to come and express our support and hope that they pass 
tonight. 

Mr. Banta: Thank you very much for being present. 

Shelly Cecchett, 605 Quail Run, Wyoming, DE: I represent the Executive 
Committee of the Greater Kent Committee and similar to what's said previously 
we support these ordinances as anything we can do to continue to streamline 
economic development is critical to the growth of Kent County. 

Kevin Veneer, 1299 Marshyhope Road, Felton, DE: I am here to support both of 
these ordinances. As I've sat here for the whole evening and listening to all of the 
prior cases there's a lot ofthings that could have been streamlined before it came 
to this point. It took a lot of time. I would like to thank you for your decisions 
earlier. A couple of things we try not to harbor on is the farmers and our churches 
and everything went favorable for those men and women. With that being said 
and I do support these ordinances for business purposes and for economic growth 
for the County. Any questions? 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Ordinance LC19-18 

Mr. Buckson: I appreciate the time. A lot's been said. I stand by the words that 
I've both in committee and as a matter of public record, both in the paper as well 
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as speaking in the community. I'm in favor of this ordinance. I believe that it is 
customer friendly and County friendly and I want to be clear that this is not a 
titanic shift. There are hundreds of transactions that go on that are seamless and 
will require no action at all. It is those occasions when an appeal of this level is 
warranted that I wholeheartedly support and believe will be a benefit both again 
to the County and to the customer. I would also point out that as is with one of 
the previous applications where the RPC gave us a decision we disagreed with. I 
would suggest that this ordinance would mirror that. I value the RPC's decisions, 
I listen to what they say, I agree with them 95% ofthe time. But as is true with 
the previous application this is another example of when I just simply disagree. 
So with that, I make a Motion that we approve Ordinance LC 19-18 establishing 
the administrative authority of the County Administrator for all aspects and 
application of the provisions of Chapter 187 Subdivision and Land Development 
of the Kent County Code; seconded by Mr. Angel. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Yes, based on the comments of Commissioner Buckson. And then to 
add a level in our toolbox to prevent any delays or any added costs to our 
businesses and with the amount of our business people that have spoken today, 
some of which I don't always agree with but I feel that for our economic 
development this is a great tool to have our County Administrator weigh in, yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, per my comments and my motion. 

Mr. Hall: I'm going to just issue some comments relating to both ordinances so I 
just won't repeat myself tonight. I'll go right to the issue of streamlining the 
approval process. No one has explained why we cannot just change code that is 
constraining the Staffto issue the decisions that they arrive at. I believe that the 
Staffis business friendly, they've approved 100 waivers since 2013 and they've 
approved 21 variances since 2017 so I would say that they are actually in favor of 
always finding a way to get anything done that can be done within the code. And 
this is unprecedented. Nobody else does this. One of my concerns is that we're 
not creating an appeal process here. There's a statement in there that says that the 
County Administrator will have direct management and decision making 
authority over the Department Planning Services. And then as the appeal 
authority for the department for which he is responsible now it seems like a 
conflict of interest. But I've said that before. I just wanted to note that the RPC 
did vote against this, that it was not something that was good for residents or 
businesses so why are we doing this? If we must do this, if we have an issue here 
let's take the County Administrator out of the picture and create a board in which 
we have any issues related to the grounds of a denial to a board, a board of 
appeals which is the best practice by the Michigan State University who would 
review the finding and determine either that it ... affirming that the finding was 
appropriate or vacating it and sending it back but not coming up with an entirely 
new process. One of my concerns here is that if we have the same information 
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being reviewed by two different people but coming to two different conclusions, 
one being the Director of Planning Services and the other being the County 
Administrator than we could get into a situation where we lack uniformity and 
equity producing decisions that are in conflict within the County Staff itself. And 
then it's just a workload issue. Anything that's free that produces good results 
will become very popular. So I believe the default process will be to bring an 
application forward and if it gets denied just kick it up to the next level. So what 
seems to be initially a very small time footprint will be a very large time footprint 
for the County Administrator to process all of the appeals coming to him for the 
determination that the Commissioners want rather than the ones consistent and 
uniform across all of the residents. So for those reasons I vote no. 

Mr. Howell: Yes. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, based on previous testimony by Commissioner Buckson, 
Commissioner Angel and I feel that it will alleviate any potential personality 
conflicts, it will speed the process. It will allow fresh eyes to look at the problem 
and it also allows another professional planner to review the process, so yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: I vote yes for all the reasons stated by Commissioner Buckson, 
Commissioner Pepper as well as the very constructive comments by the past chair 
of the RPC Mr. Holmes. 

Mr. Banta: Based on the comments of Mr. Buckson, Mr. Angel, Mr. Pepper and 
certainly the positive comments from the public, I vote yes. 

Roll Call vote reveals six (6) yeas; one (1) nay. Ordinance LC19-18 has been 
approved. 

2. Ordinance LC19-19 Amendments to Chapter 205 (Zoning)- An 
Ordinance to amend Kent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205, Zoning, as 
amended by revising language throughout Chapter 205, Zoning, and revising 
the following sections: Article I, §205-4, Interpretation; Article II, §205-6, 
Definitions; and, Article XXVII, §205-404, Administrative Variance, for the 
purpose of designating the County Administrator as the staff level 
administrative decision making authority for Kent County Code, Chapter 205 

Ms. Keifer: Ordinance LC 19-19 does effectively the same thing as the previous 
ordinance but in Chapter 205 Zoning. So again it's exactly the same language 
within a different ordinance. The Regional Planning Commission again 
recommended denial. I'm happy to answer any questions you might have. 

Public Hearing Open on Ordinance LC19-19 

IN FAVOR 
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Phillip McGinnis wished to reiterate for the record the comments he made 
earlier. At this point Mr. Banta asked anyone else in favor of Ordinance LC 19-19 
to please stand for a head count. The record shows five (5) residents stood in 
favor. 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Ordinance LC19-19 

Mr. Buckson made a Motion to approve LC 19-19 based on previous comments 
referencing LC19-18. He further stated that he wished to state very clearly that 
for himself personally this was not unprecedented as he has researched this and 
spoken locally who have a relationship that is similar to this one. "It is absolutely 
not a personality conflict issue when I'm talking about this. This is specific to 12 
years' experience and understanding there are times when it is not obvious. 
So for denial to be kicked up is not the expectation at all from this language, it is 
when it is not specifically spelled out, when it is not obvious. And there are times 
when that occurs that I believe this absolutely will assist the County and the 
customer;" seconded by Mr. Sweeney. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Yes, with my previous comments as well as I believe the County 
Administrator he has the direct authority of all Kent County. So he needs to 
weigh in on all decisions made because he advises us the Levy Court 
Commissioners and if that chain of command as the County chair for 
Administration I just feel it's an added tool in our toolbox, yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, based on my previous comments. 

Mr. Hall: No, based on my previous comments. 

Mr. Howell: Yes. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, based on my previous comments for Ordinance LC19-18, 
Commissioner Buckson's comments this time and Commissioner Angel's 
comments on Ordinance 19-19, yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, based on my previous comments on Ordinance LC19-18 and 
as well as to conform with many other State agencies that have similar appeal 
processes right up to the secretary of those agencies. 

Mr. Banta: Based on the comments of Commissioner Angel, Commission 
Buckson, Commissioner Pepper, Commissioner Sweeney, I vote yes. 
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Roll Call vote reveals six (6) yeas; one (1) nay. Ordinance LC19-19 has been 
approved. 

MEETING ROOM FEE SCHEDULE 
AMENDMENT ORDINANCE 

1. Ordinance LC19-21, An Ordinance amending The Code of Kent County, 
State of Delaware, Volume I, Chapter 128- Fees, §128-49- Meeting Room 
Fee Schedule 

Public Hearing Open on Ordinance LC19-21 

IN FAVOR- None 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing Closed on Ordinance LC19-21 

Mr. Hall: I Move to approve Ordinance LC19-21; seconded by Mr. Sweeney. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: Yes, reasons stated previously. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, reasons stated. 

Mr. Hall: Yes. 

Mr. Howell: Yes. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes. 

Mr. Banta: Yes. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Ordinance LC19-21 has been approved. 

CLOSE PUBLIC HEARINGS 

OLD BUSINESS 

Mr. Angel: 
1. CS-18-07 Meyer & Meyer, Inc. -Revision (Reconsideration of a Condition of 

Approval) 
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Ms. Keifer: The final item tonight, Meyer & Meyer was a Conditional Use Site 
Plan for a daycare that was originally approved October 23,2018. As part ofthat 
approval there was a condition related to architecture, it had to do with a number 
of dormers and making sure facades matched. That had been a recommendation 
by the Planning Commission that got enveloped into the Levy Court's ultimate 
motion to approve. In the intervening months the applicant has asked for that 
specific condition to be reconsidered so that the original condition showing the 
architectural would be replaced with Exhibit B that is on the screen and in your 
packets. This is just a revision to an existing project asking to revise the original 
conditional approval. I'm happy to answer any questions you might have. 

I Move to approve the revision of the Application CS-18-07 replacing the 
previous approved architectural rendering with Exhibit B showing a single 
dormer. The revised design meets the intent of the condition to make the fa<;:ade 
of this building look like a front as opposed to the back of a building; seconded by 
Mr. Pepper; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas. 

NEW BUSINESS 

Mr. Angel: 
1. Appoint Negotiating Team for The CW A (The Communication Workers of 

America) Contract 

I Move to appoint and authorize the County Administrator, County Attorney, 
Personnel Director, Public Works Director, and Wastewater Facilities Division 
Manager to negotiate a successor agreement with wastewater treatment facility 
employees represented by CWA 13101; seconded by Mr. Pepper; carried by Roll 
Call vote seven (7) yeas. 

OTHER BUSINESS 

Mr. Pepper: 
I Move to go into Executive Session immediately following the Committee 
Meetings of October 8, 2019 for preliminary discussion on site acquisition for 
a publicly funded capital improvement; legal strategy session regarding collective 
bargaining or pending or potential litigation; and personnel matters pursuant to 29 
Del. C. 10004(b) (2), (4), and (9); seconded by Mr. Howell; carried by Roll Call 
vote seven (7) yeas. 

INFORMATION ITEMS- None 

PUBLIC COMMENTS- None 

COMMISSIONER COMMENTS- None 
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Motion to Adjourn was made by Mr. Angel; seconded by Mr. Pepper; carried 
by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas. 9:26 p.m. 

Brenda Wootten 
Clerk of the Peace 


